Case 2021AP001346 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-10-2022 Page 1 of 42

FILED 02-10-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III CASE NO. 2021AP001346-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JOBERT L. MOLDE,

Defendant-Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENTS AND ORDERS, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DUNN COUNTY, CASE NO. 17 CF 34, THE HONORABLE ROD W. SMELTZER, PRESIDING

#### **DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF**

ROBERT PAUL MAXEY State Bar No. 1112746

#### **NELSON DEFENSE GROUP**

811 First Street, Ste. 101 Hudson, WI 54016 (715) 386-2694 robert@nelsondefensegroup.com

Attorneys for the Defendant-Appellant

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Was trial counsel constitutionally ineffective when she failed to object to the juror's question concerning the frequency of false sexual assault reports?

The Trial Court Answered: "No."

II. Was trial counsel constitutionally ineffective when she did not move for a mistrial once Swenson's answer was given.

The Trial Court Answered: "No."

III. Was trial counsel constitutionally ineffective for failing to seek the admission of relevant opinion evidence regarding L.L.M.'s lack of truthfulness and honesty under Wis. Stat. § 906.08(1)?

The Trial Court Answered: "No."

IV. Was trial counsel constitutionally ineffective when she withdrew her objection to the admission of prior acts?

The Trial Court Answered: "No."

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Molde does not request oral argument and but does recommend that the opinion be published because this case applies an established rule of law to a factual situation significantly different from that in published opinions. Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.23(1)(a)2.

**Brief of Appellant** Filed 02-10-2022 Page 10 of 42 Case 2021AP001346

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On January 31, 2017, the State of Wisconsin charged Molde with one count of first-degree sexual assault of a child under the age of twelve, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(b), and one count of incest, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.06(1). (1). The criminal complaint alleged that Molde had sexually assaulted his daughter, L.M., approximately five years prior. (1:1–2). An information charging the same two counts was filed on February 16, 2017. (8).

Molde emphatically denied having any sexual contact with L.M. (139:31– 32, 35). He further took and passed a polygraph examination to corroborate his innocence. (197:18). Trial counsel shared the results of Molde's polygraph examination with the State to further demonstrate that Molde was telling the truth when he denied the allegations. (197:52–53).

The State, nevertheless, continued to prosecute Molde, and a jury trial was ultimately held on March 18 and 19, 2019. (138 and 139). Other than L.M.'s testimony, there was no direct evidence to support the allegation that Molde had sexually assaulted her. (138:96–98). There was no confession, no eyewitness testimony, no physical evidence, no biological evidence, and no medical evidence. (Id.)

At trial, the State presented the testimony of Dr. Alice Swenson<sup>1</sup> for the purpose of showing that the proper protocols were used when interviewing L.M. about her sexual assault allegations. (138:122).

Swenson admitted there were several problems with how the interview was conducted, (138:148–49), but generally defended it as reliable. Notably, neither

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The State originally named Laurel Edinburgh, the nurse practitioner who conducted L.M.'s forensic interview, as its expert. (29). Edinburgh was unable to attend trial, however, and the circuit court allowed the State to substitute Dr. Alice Swenson, the physician who supervised L.M.'s forensic interview, over trial counsel's objection. (151:10–12; 152:3–11).

Case 2021AP001346 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-10-2022 Page 11 of 42

the State nor trial counsel asked Swenson any questions regarding the frequency of false allegations in child sexual abuse cases. (175:15).

Following Swenson's testimony, the circuit court asked the jurors if they had any questions. (138:154). One did. The question, in writing, was: "How frequent is it for children to make up a story of sexual abuse?"; and if so, "Why would they do that? (138:154). The written question was passed to the court, who presented it to both trial counsel and the prosecutor. Neither of them had any objection.

The court then directed the juror's question to Swenson:

THE COURT: Doctor, it says how frequent is it for children to make up a story of sexual abuse?

THE WITNESS: False disclosures are extraordinarily rare, like in the one percent of all disclosures are false disclosures.

THE COURT: Second part of that is why would they do that?

THE WITNESS: I don't think I really have an answer to that.

(138:154–55). In addition, trial counsel asked Swenson on re-cross:

Q: Are there particular studies that have been conducted regarding the reporting of false accusations?

A: There are that I've read, yes. I don't know the names of them off the top of my head.

(138:155).

Trial counsel testified at the postconviction hearing that she did not object to the written jury question because she could not think of a legal reason for doing so. (175:17–18, 24). In hindsight, however, she agreed an objection to the juror's written question could and should have been made for the following reasons. (175:22, 24–25).

First, at no point did the State give notice that it would present expert testimony concerning the frequency of false allegations in child sexual abuse Case 2021AP001346 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-10-2022 Page 12 of 42

cases. (29:1–5; 175:11). Nor did the circuit court ever make a ruling permitting Swenson to offer such expert testimony.

Rather, the State advised that Swenson would be "talking about the same issues as [the State] had proposed for Dr. Edinburgh [in its July 20, 2018 expert notice] so it hasn't changed." (152:40). That prior notice indicated that Edinburgh's expert testimony would be limited to the interview she conducted of L.M. and her physical exam of L.M., as well as the following categories: delayed reporting/non-disclosure, mental health issues relating to sexual assault victims, and physical evidence. (29:1–3).

The circuit court further qualified Swenson's testimony for the sole purpose of analyzing L.M.'s forensic interview. (151:12). In denying a defense objection to Swenson's testimony, the circuit court made clear the permitted scope of Swenson's trial testimony prior to trial:

THE COURT: I believe we have Dr. Swenson that's going to testify concerning the protocol of the interview. True, Ms. Nodolf?

PROSECUTOR: True

THE COURT: And the Court had previously ruled that this particular interview was an actual interview of the words of both the interviewer and the interviewee, which was LM and that the Court - the jury is going to see the actual statements and then Dr. Swenson would just be testifying as to whether those proper procedures and protocol were followed during the interview. I think this is -- that this is a supervising physician over the person that conducted this interview, and I think as long as you can attest to the protocol that was followed, I think it's appropriate that Dr. Swenson be able to address that. She is the supervising person over this individual that performed the interview and for the same reasons that the Court had ruled before that I am allowing it and I deny your motion.

(138:122-23).

Second, the circuit court had made a pretrial ruling that if either counsel objected to a written question asked by the jury, then that question would not be asked. (175:16). Given the court's pretrial ruling that any objection to a written

Case 2021AP001346 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-10-2022 Page 13 of 42

question by the jury would be sustained, trial counsel could not think of any strategic reason for failing to do so. (175:18).

Finally, trial counsel agreed that she should have objected to the juror's question as she did not know what Swenson's answer would be. (175:21–22). Trial counsel testified that no "alarm bells" went off in her head when the juror's written question was asked, although she agreed in hindsight they should have as Swenson was unlikely to give any answer that would have been helpful to Molde's defense. (175:22–23).

Regardless of what answer Swenson gave, trial counsel agreed that she was in no position to impeach Swenson given the lack of pretrial notice. (175:20, 23). Trial counsel admitted that she did not know what percentage of child sexual assault allegations were false, nor was she familiar with any source that could provide such information. (175:20). She did not conduct any research on this same topic prior to Swenson's trial testimony, nor did she review Swenson's curriculum vitae for Swenson's qualifications to offer such expert testimony. (175:12–13).

Trial counsel agreed an objection posed "absolutely no risk" to Molde. (175:17). She therefore testified that it was a mistake for her to not object to the written jury question. (175:22).

Further, once Swenson's answer was given, trial counsel did not move for a mistrial because she did not think about it. (175:24). In hindsight, however, she agreed that such action could and should have been taken in response to Swenson's answer. (175:24–25). She also agreed that there was no strategic reason for not requesting a mistrial following Swenson's answer. (175:24).

Because trial counsel did not have any background information regarding the frequency of false allegations in child sexual abuse case at the time Swenson provided her testimony, she was unable to determine in that moment whether Swenson's answer was correct or incorrect, or accurate or inaccurate. (175:19–20).

Case 2021AP001346 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-10-2022 Page 14 of 42

An expert in the field of child sexual assault, Dr. David Thompson, was retained by Molde to review Swenson's one-percent claim. He concluded such a claim is "inaccurate," "erroneous," and "not based on scientific fact." (188:3–4).<sup>2</sup> No existing body of science or research allows any "expert" to answer the question with any authority. (188:2). There "are no studies that have examined the rates of false accusations in currently adjudicated trials—which would be the information that would be most relevant for the judge or jurors." (163:29). Additionally, differences in definition, methodology, and study subjects make it impossible to give a percentage figure. (163:29). Notably, the "rate" of false allegations varies wildly based on differing definitions and methodology. They could be as low as .06% for investigations with a final ruling of an intentionally false allegation, as frequent as 8% for suspected false allegations made by adolescents, or as high as 29% for false allegations in custody cases involving children older than seven years old. (163:18)

Moreover, the use of a percentage is particularly "misleading." The lack of a consistent methodology in the research coupled with an expert's implicit institutional and historical bias means that any number they may testify to is arbitrary. (163:29). However, when a specific percentage of false positives is relayed to the jury such as, for example, two percent, judges and juries are led to believe "there is a 98% chance [] the accusations in the case before them [are] true." (163:29).

The State relied on Swenson's 1% testimony during its closing argument, informing the jury:

And you also need to take into consideration Dr. Swenson's testimony that false disclosures are extraordinarily rare. They're in the one percent of cases that she's seen.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The parties stipulated to the admission of Dr. Thompson's April 23, 2020 letter/report in its entirety as part of the record to Molde's postconviction motion. (190).

(139:163).

Trial counsel additionally testified that her entire trial strategy was to attack the credibility of L.M. and the veracity of her allegation. (175:26; 197:31).

She was further familiar with the fact that Wis. Stat. § 906.08 allows a defendant to impeach the credibility of a witness against him by soliciting opinion and/or reputation evidence of that witness's character for untruthfulness. (175:32).

Trial counsel agreed that the only way for an attorney to become aware of such impeachment evidence is to investigate. (175:32). She therefore hired a private investigator to gather information about L.M. being untruthful. (197:52). As part of this effort, the private investigator met with potential witnesses who could aid in Molde's defense. (197:40–41). Trial counsel was then provided the written summaries of the private investigator's interviews with these witnesses. (197:41).

Based on the information in those written summaries, as well information provided by Molde, trial counsel was made aware that Stephanie Molde,<sup>3</sup> Hunter Clementson,<sup>4</sup> Willow Molde,<sup>5</sup> Brandi Timm,<sup>6</sup> Tristin Molde,<sup>7</sup> and Taylor Paulus<sup>8</sup> could all attack the credibility of L.M. at trial. (175:31; 197:41–43, 56–57).

Trial counsel therefore spoke with all six of these witnesses, most on multiple occasions, prior to trial. (175:37, 43, 49; 197:62–63). She confirmed that during these conversations, all six witnesses made clear that they did not believe L.M.'s allegation. (175:45).

Although trial counsel agreed that such opinion testimony from these family members as to L.M.'s character for untruthfulness would have been helpful

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Stephanie Molde is L.M.'s mother and Molde's wife. (197:76).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Hunter Clemetson is L.M.'s half-brother and Molde's step-son. (197:99–100).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Willow Molde is L.M.'s sister and Molde's daughter. (197:90–91).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Brandi Timm is L.M.'s cousin and Molde's niece. (197:109).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Tristin Molde is L.M.'s brother and Molde's son. (197:105).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Taylor Paulus is L.M.'s cousin and Molde's niece. (197:112).

Case 2021AP001346 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-10-2022 Page 16 of 42

to the defense, (197:58), she testified that she never had a conversation with any of these six witnesses about their opinion of L.M.'s character for untruthfulness. (197:59). Given that credibility was the crux of the case, trial counsel agreed there was no conceivable strategic reason for failing to investigate this further or to present this evidence at trial. (197:54).

At trial, the State attacked Molde's credibility. (197:53). During its opening statement, the State informed the jury that it would hear testimony that Molde continually denies having any sexual contact with L.M. whatsoever. (138:96). It further acknowledged that in addition to there being no admission or confession, there was also no physical evidence, no eyewitness evidence, and no corroborating evidence. (138:96). Other than L.M.'s testimony, there was no other evidence to support the allegation Molde had sexually assaulted her. (138:96, 158–178). Still, the State argued to the jury throughout trial that Molde should not be believed. (138:96–97; 139:161; 197:53–54).

Stephanie Molde, Hunter Clementson, Willow Molde, Brandi Timm, Tristin Molde, and Taylor Paulus all testified at trial. (139:2). All six witnesses confirmed that had they been asked, each would have testified to L.M.'s lack of truthfulness and honesty, as well as Molde's reputation for truthfulness and honesty. (197:54).

Trial counsel, however, did not present any of this evidence at trial. (197: 57). Her explanation for not using Stephanie Molde, Hunter Clementson, Willow Molde, Brandi Timm, Tristin Molde, and Taylor Paulus opinion evidence that L.M. has an untruthful character was that she did not think about it. (197:54, 56). She agreed that had she properly investigated and learned that all six of these witnesses had the opinion that L.M. has a character for being untruthful, she would and should have introduced this evidence at trial. (197:58).

Finally, prior to trial, the defense moved the circuit court to prohibit the State from introducing other acts evidence related to Molde's prior conviction and

Case 2021AP001346 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-10-2022 Page 17 of 42

incarceration for operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated ("OWI"). (88:4). The State argued this evidence was needed to support L.M.'s claim that the alleged assault occurred during a time when Molde was drinking and before he went to jail. (152:27–28; 197:48).

The court ruled that the State could get into the fact that Molde's wife had left him and that he had been drinking heavily, but not that he was convicted of an OWI and incarcerated. (152:31).

At the beginning of the trial, however, trial counsel withdrew her objection to the State introducing this evidence concerning Molde's alcohol-related conviction and incarceration. (138:6). She testified that she made the decision to withdraw her objection to evidence of Molde's conviction and incarceration for OWI because she thought this evidence impeached L.M.'s trial testimony that Molde was drinking at the time of the alleged incident. (175:57–58; 197:46).

As a result, the prosecutor asked L.M.: "Do you remember your dad going to jail for a period of time in 2012?" She answered that yes, she "remember[ed] him going away for a while...." (138:175). L.M. also testified that Molde went to treatment for alcohol abuse. (138:178–79). Detective Williams Anderson likewise testified that Molde was incarcerated from January 2012 to July 2012. (139:19). He also testified that Molde was convicted of an OWI offense. (139:30). Molde's wife, Stephanie Molde, agreed with the prosecutor when asked if Molde got arrested for OWI and went to jail in January 2012. (139:47–48). She also answered affirmatively when the prosecution asked if she could "remember a time where your husband had to be brought home by law enforcement because he was staggering on the road?" (139:44).

Trial counsel testified, however, that she neither investigated nor considered other possible methods of impeaching L.M.'s trial testimony prior to withdrawing her objection. (175:57). She never investigated, considered, or explored the possibility of reaching a stipulation with the State that established a

Case 2021AP001346 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-10-2022 Page 18 of 42

particular timeline of events, nor did she consider rephrasing Molde's conviction and subsequent period of incarceration in a far less prejudicial manner by stating, for example, Molde was "out of the home." (175:58). Trial counsel further agreed that there were other ways for her to effectively impeach L.M.'s trial testimony without informing the jury that Molde had been convicted and incarcerated for OWI. (175:58–59). For example, trial counsel agreed she could have rephrased Molde's conviction and subsequent period of incarceration in a far less prejudicial manner by stating that Molde was "out of the home." (175:58).

Trial counsel agreed her decision to withdraw the objection was a mistake. (175:59–60). She conceded she mistakenly failed to investigate or consider other possible methods of impeaching L.M.'s trial testimony prior to withdrawing her objection. (175:57). She could have used other evidence to establish Molde was sober during the time frame in which L.M. alleges the incident occurred. (175:58–59). The jury did not need to know Molde was convicted and incarcerated for OWI. (175:59; 197:51).

Trial counsel also acknowledged her decision to withdraw her objection to evidence of Molde's conviction and incarceration for OWI, as well as his drinking and treatment, was in fact prejudicial. (175:55). As highlighted at the postconviction motion hearing, at trial, L.M. called Molde a drinker and trial counsel then introduced evidence in which Molde had been convicted of and incarcerated for a crime involving drinking. (197:50).

The jury returned verdicts of guilty on both counts: 1) first-degree sexual assault of a child under the age of twelve, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(b); and 2) incest, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.06(1). (139:195). On count 1, Molde was sentenced to 32.5 years, with 25 years of initial incarceration and 7.5 years of extended supervision. (154:24; 145 (A:15)). On count 2, Molde was sentenced to 8 years, with 5 years of initial incarceration and 3 years of extended supervision, concurrent with count 1. (154:24; 145 (A:15)).

Case 2021AP001346 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-10-2022 Page 19 of 42

The circuit court denied Molde's postconviction motion. (218 (A:3–13)). The court found that trial counsel's handling of Swenson's 1% testimony was not ineffective. (218:5 (A:7)). The court found that the jury's question "would have been within in the purview of Dr. Swenson's expertise," that trial counsel had "an opportunity to cross-examine Dr. Swenson," and that, "based on case law, [Swenson's answer] didn't fall into the realm where [she] was commenting on the credibility of the victim in this case as to whether she was telling the truth or not." (218:4–5 (A:6–7)).

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