**FILED** 05-13-2022 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS** 

## STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2021AP1346-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JOBERT L. MOLDE,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN DUNN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE ROD W. SMELTZER, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JACOB J. WITTWER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041288

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. Molde cannot show that trial counsel was ineffective for not objecting to a juror's question of the State's child sexual assault expert witness about the prevalence of false reports of assault.

#### A. Standard of Review

Whether a defendant was deprived of the right to effective assistance of counsel is a question of constitutional fact reviewed under a mixed standard of review. State v. Mayo, 2007 WI 78, ¶ 32, 301 Wis. 2d 642, 734 N.W.2d 115. Findings of fact are upheld unless clearly erroneous, and whether those facts constitute deficient performance and prejudice is decided independently. Id.

<sup>5</sup> The court did not address the mistrial claim because, in his original postconviction motion, Molde presented it within the context of his claim of ineffectiveness for not objecting to the juror's question. (R. 163:8.)

15

В. ineffective To prove assistance, the defendant must overcome the strong presumption that counsel's performance was constitutionally adequate and show a reasonable probability that, counsel's errors, the outcome would have been different.

A defendant claiming ineffective assistance of counsel must prove both that his lawyer's representation was deficient and that he suffered prejudice as a result of counsel's deficient performance. *State v. Burton*, 2013 WI 61, ¶ 47, 349 Wis. 2d 1, 832 N.W.2d 611 (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984)).

To prove deficient performance, a defendant must show specific acts or omissions of counsel that were "outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690. The court "strongly presume[s]" that counsel has rendered adequate assistance. Id. "A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time." Id. at 689. A lawyer's performance is not deficient unless he or she "made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." Id. at 687.

"[C]ounsel does not perform deficiently in failing to 'object and argue a point of law' that is 'unclear."  $State\ v$ . Morales-Pedrosa, 2016 WI App 38, ¶ 16, 369 Wis. 2d 75, 879 N.W.2d 772 (quoting  $State\ v$ . Thayer, 2001 WI App 51, ¶ 14, 241 Wis. 2d 417, 626 N.W.2d 811).

To show prejudice, the defendant must demonstrate "a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. "It is not enough 'to

show that the errors had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding." *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 104 (2011) (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 693).

C. Counsel's performance in not objecting to the juror's question was not deficient because the testimony the question elicited did not implicate *Haseltine*, was within the scope of the circuit court's order, and did not violate Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1) and *Daubert*.

As noted, a juror submitted two questions of the State's child sexual abuse expert, Dr. Swenson: "How frequent is it for children to make up a story of sexual abuse[?]" and "Why would they do that[?]" (R. 106:1; 138:154.) The court held a sidebar with the attorneys, and neither objected to the question being asked. (R. 138:154.) Postconviction, trial counsel Jessie Weber testified that she could not think of a legal basis on which to object to the question. (R. 175:17–18.) In its postconviction decision, the circuit court found that the jurors' question was "within the purview of Dr. Swenson's expertise." (R. 218:4.) The court concluded that counsel's non-objection to the juror's question "was not ineffectiveness of counsel." (R. 218:5.)

Molde argues that counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the juror's question for two reasons. First, he asserts the question elicited testimony from Dr. Swenson that was inadmissible because it constituted an opinion as to whether L.M. was telling the truth. (Molde's Br. 22–30.) Second, he maintains that the question produced testimony that was beyond the scope of the circuit court's order granting the State's request to present expert testimony and was contrary to *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharm. Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579 (1993) and Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1). (Molde's Br. 30–33.)

As shown below, Molde cannot prove deficient performance or prejudice on either of his theories. Accordingly, his claim fails.

1. Under Wisconsin law, Dr. Swenson's answer did not constitute inadmissible *Haseltine* testimony, and thus counsel was not deficient for not objecting to the juror's question on this ground.

"[A] witness may not testify 'that another mentally and physically competent witness is telling the truth." State v. Jensen, 147 Wis. 2d 240, 249, 432 N.W.2d 913 (1988) (quoting State v. Haseltine, 120 Wis. 2d 92, 96, 352 N.W.2d 673 (Ct. App. 1984)). "The Haseltine rule is intended to prevent witnesses from interfering with the jury's role as the 'lie detector in the courtroom." State v. Snider, 2003 WI App 172, ¶ 27, 266 Wis. 2d 830, 668 N.W.2d 784 (quoting Haseltine, 120 Wis. 2d at 96). The Haseltine rule is not implicated when "neither the purpose nor the effect of [a witness's] testimony was to attest to [another witness's] truthfulness." State v. Smith, 170 Wis. 2d 701, 718–19, 490 N.W.2d 40 (Ct. App. 1992).

Molde argues Dr. Swenson's testimony that false accusations of assault are "extraordinarily rare, like in the one percent of all disclosures are false" was an implicit statement that L.M. was telling the truth, contrary to *Haseltine*. (Molde's Br. 22–30.) But this Court has already rejected a claim that counsel was ineffective for not objecting on *Haseltine* grounds to a question intended to elicit expert testimony on the prevalence of false accusations of sexual assault.

In *Morales-Pedrosa*, 369 Wis. 2d 75, ¶¶ 1, 12, the defendant was charged with several offenses for sexually assaulting his daughter, and the State presented an expert witness on child sexual assault at trial. The prosecutor asked

Case 2021AP001346 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-13-2022 Page 19 of 33

the expert if it was true that, based on the expert's knowledge and experience, that "90 percent of reported cases are true?" *Morales-Pedrosa*, 369 Wis. 2d 75, ¶ 12. The expert answered, "Correct." *Id*.

On appeal, Morales-Pedrosa argued that counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the prosecutor's question, arguing that it sought to elicit impermissible *Haseltine* testimony about whether the victim was telling the truth. *Morales-Pedrosa*, 369 Wis. 2d 75, ¶ 19. This Court disagreed, concluding that counsel did not perform deficiently by not objecting to the prosecutor's question "because the law in Wisconsin was unclear as to whether the type of testimony elicited from McGuire constituted impermissible vouching for B.M.'s credibility." *Id*.

This Court distinguished Morales-Pedrosa's case from *Haseltine. Morales-Pedrosa*, 369 Wis. 2d 75, ¶ 23. The Court determined that the expert's "generalized statement" about the prevalence of false allegations was not "functionally [the] equivalent to [the expert] testifying [the victim] was being truthful with her accusations in the case." *Id.* To the extent the issue of whether such an expert could, in effect, be an impermissible opinion on whether the victim was telling the truth, the Court concluded that trial counsel did not have a duty to raise an objection that was based on unsettled law. *Id.* ¶ 24. The Court noted that Morales-Pedrosa's argument relied primarily on law from other jurisdictions—law that is not binding in Wisconsin, and thus did not create a duty on counsel's part to raise an objection. *Id.* 

Molde cites *Morales-Pedrosa* but only for the proposition that "[t]his Court has . . . acknowledged that a generalized percentage probability—if high enough—could violate *Haseltine*." (Molde's Br. 23.) True, it *could*, but no Wisconsin court has decided this question. *Morales-Pedrosa* explicitly declined to do so in part because the issue was a novel one arising in the context of ineffective assistance.

Morales-Pedrosa, 369 Wis. 2d 75, ¶ 23. That is the case here, too. Even though an opinion that only 1% of accusations are false may be more "objectionable" than the 10% figure in Morales-Pedrosa, id. ¶ 24, the fact remains that no Wisconsin case has held that an expert opinion based on a general statistic constitutes a de facto opinion as to the truthfulness of a victim's allegation.

Thus, the primary rationale for this Court's decision in *Morales-Pedrosa* also applies here: counsel did not perform deficiently for not making a *Haseltine* objection because Wisconsin law is unclear as to whether the expert's testimony in this case runs afoul of *Haseltine*. *See Morales-Pedrosa*, 369 Wis. 2d 75, ¶ 16. Molde's extended discussion of cases from other jurisdictions (Molde's Br. 24–30) fails to show that counsel had a duty to make such an objection under Wisconsin law.

Additionally, Molde fails to show that Wisconsin courts would or should adopt his position that an expert opinion that false accusations of sexual assault amount to 1% of accusations constitutes an opinion that this victim is telling the truth. A statement based on research regarding the prevalence of false accusations is not an opinion about whether a particular victim is telling the truth. Recently, the Wisconsin Supreme Court construed Haseltine narrowly in concluding that an expert's testimony was admissible about whether the victim's statements made during a cognitive graphic interview showed "indications" of coaching or dishonesty. State v. Maday, 2017 WI 28, ¶¶ 38–39, 374 Wis. 2d 164, 892 N.W.2d 611. The court explained that the testimony did not amount to an opinion as to whether the victim was being truthful because the testimony was based on objective standards and the expert's training and experience.

2. The juror's question did not implicate matters beyond the scope of the court's order and Molde has not shown that Dr. Swenson's answer was inadmissible under *Daubert* or Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1); thus, counsel was not deficient in not objecting to the juror's question on these bases.

Molde next argues that counsel should have objected on the ground that the question sought an opinion that was beyond the scope of the court's order. (Molde's Br. 30.) Further, Molde argues, the question elicited testimony that was inadmissible under *Daubert* and Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1).

First, Molde fails to show that the question elicited testimony that was beyond the scope of the court's order allowing expert testimony. The court found postconviction decision that the juror's question was, in fact, "within the purview of Dr. Swenson's expertise." (R. 218:4.) Despite the court's decision, Molde misleadingly asserts that the court qualified Dr. Swenson's testimony "for the sole purpose of analyzing the complainant's forensic interview," citing R. 151:12. (Molde's Br. 30.) Of course, Dr. Swenson testified about much more than this limited topic—she addressed delayed reporting of child sexual assault and when physical findings of abuse are not likely to be present, for example. (R. 138:133, 138-39.) The language Molde cites is merely a rejection of Attorney Weber's argument that Swenson should not address the forensic interview itself because Dr. Swenson did not conduct the interview (Dr. Edinburgh did). (R. 151:11–12.)

No, the State substituted Dr. Swenson for Dr. Edinburgh as its expert, and Dr. Swenson was allowed to testify on the same broad topics that Dr. Edinburgh originally was. The State notified the court that its expert would present testimony "regarding issues that are common in child sexual

abuse cases." (R. 29:1, 4.) The State then listed three specific topics the expert would address—delayed reporting, mental health issues of sexual assault victims, and physical evidence of assault—but did not state that the testimony would be limited to these topics only. (R. 29:1–4.) When the court authorized the State to present expert testimony, it remarked that testimony about "delayed reporting . . . [and] mental health issues relating to victims . . . certainly can be helpful for a jur[y's] understanding . . .," but it did not limit the scope of the testimony to those topics. (R. 65:10–12.) And, notably, the court did not recognize the juror's question to be outside the scope of its order allowing expert testimony.

Molde does not show that testimony about the prevalence of false accusations of assault was outside the bounds of the order authorizing expert testimony, and thus counsel was not deficient for not objecting to the juror's question on this ground.

Second, Molde fails to show that Dr. Swenson's testimony about the prevalence of false accusations of child sexual assault was inadmissible under *Daubert* and Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1).

Under *Daubert*, the trial court engages in a gatekeeping function to ensure that the expert's opinion is based on a reliable foundation and is relevant to the material issues. *State v. Giese*, 2014 WI App 92, ¶ 18, 356 Wis. 2d 796, 854 N.W.2d 687 (citing *Daubert*, 509 U.S. at 589 n.7). Wisconsin Stat. § 907.02(1) incorporates the reliability standard set forth in *Daubert* and governs the admission of expert testimony. *See Seifert v. Balink*, 2017 WI 2, ¶¶ 50–51, 372 Wis. 2d 525, 888 N.W.2d 816.

The statute states that "[i]f scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue," then "a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill,

Case 2021AP001346 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-13-2022 Page 23 of 33

experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise," provided that "the testimony is based upon sufficient facts or data, the testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods, and the witness has applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case." Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1). *Daubert* contains a non-exhaustive list of factors courts may consider in applying this standard, and the *Daubert* test is meant to be flexible. *Kumho Tire Co., Ltd. v. Carmichael*, 526 U.S. 137, 141 (1999).

Molde has a difficult task in demonstrating that Dr. Swenson's testimony about the prevalence of false accusations of assault is inadmissible under *Daubert* and Wis. Stat. § 907.02, and he fails to do so. He asserts without citation that "[a]n expert opinion regarding false allegations in child sexual abuse cases has no accepted basis in the field." (Molde's Br. 32.) Molde provides no case from any jurisdiction that stands for this proposition. In fact, such expert testimony on this topic appears to be offered with some frequency in child sexual assault cases, as *Morales-Pedrosa* and the many other cases Molde cites in the previous discussion demonstrate (setting aside whether such testimony was deemed inadmissible on *Haseltine*-type grounds).

Dr. Swenson's training and knowledge in the field of child sexual abuse is extensive, as her CV shows and Molde does not appear to dispute. (R. 122:1–8.) Again, the court found postconviction that the prevalence of false accusations was within the doctor's expertise. (R. 218:4.) Molde's suggestion that, to have a qualified opinion, Dr. Swenson must have conducted "her own research" on this specific topic instead of relying on her knowledge of the published studies in the field is absurd and unsupported by law. (Molde's Br. 32.)

Finally, it would be wholly speculative to predict what the outcome of a *Daubert* inquiry might have been had counsel raised a *Daubert* objection, given the flexible, multifactor nature of such an inquiry. The opinion Molde obtained from Dr. David Thompson about the usefulness of such an assessment—there is "no support for expert testimony giving a single rate" or false accusations, he argued—would be relevant to this inquiry. (R. 188:2.) But neither it nor anything else Molde offers in this discussion proves that Dr. Swenson's testimony is inadmissible under *Daubert*.

For these reasons, counsel was not deficient in not raising a *Daubert* challenge to the juror's question.

\* \* \* \*

Based on the foregoing, Molde cannot prove that counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the juror's question.

# II. Molde cannot show that counsel was ineffective for not seeking a mistrial after the State's expert answered the juror's question.

In the alternative, Molde argues that, once Dr. Swenson testified about the exceedingly low prevalence of false accusations of assault, he was entitled to a mistrial, and trial counsel was ineffective for not requesting one. Molde is wrong.

#### A. Mistrial standard

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